

**BYLAWS
OF
THE SOCIETY
FOR
ANIMATION STUDIES**

Edition

Draft 1 (Original)	2008
Draft 2 (Amendments)	2013
Draft 3 (Amendments)	2023

Table of Contents

ARTICLE I. OFFICES	4
SECTION 1.01. <i>PRINCIPAL OFFICE</i>	4
ARTICLE II. MEMBERSHIP	4
SECTION 2.01. <i>MEMBERS.</i>	4
ARTICLE III. BOARD OF DIRECTORS	5
SECTION 3.01. <i>POWER OF BOARD.</i>	5
SECTION 3.02. <i>NUMBER OF DIRECTORS.</i>	5
SECTION 3.03. <i>ELECTION AND TERM OF OFFICE.</i>	6
SECTION 3.04. <i>RESIGNATION AND VACANCIES.</i>	6
SECTION 3.05. <i>PLACE OF MEETINGS.</i>	7
SECTION 3.06. <i>ANNUAL MEETINGS.</i>	8
SECTION 3.07. <i>REGULAR MEETINGS.</i>	8
SECTION 3.08. <i>SPECIAL MEETINGS.</i>	8
SECTION 3.09. <i>QUORUM AND ACTION OF THE BOARD.</i>	10
SECTION 3.10. <i>PARTICIPATION IN MEETINGS BY CONFERENCE TELEPHONE.</i>	10
SECTION 3.11. <i>WAIVER OF NOTICE.</i>	11
SECTION 3.12. <i>ADJOURNMENT.</i>	11
SECTION 3.13. <i>ACTION WITHOUT MEETING.</i>	12
SECTION 3.14. <i>COMMITTEES.</i>	12
SECTION 3.15. <i>MEETINGS AND ACTIONS OF COMMITTEES.</i>	13
SECTION 3.16. <i>FEES AND COMPENSATION.</i>	14
ARTICLE IV. OFFICERS	14
SECTION 4.01. <i>OFFICERS.</i>	14
SECTION 4.02. <i>ELECTION.</i>	15
SECTION 4.03. <i>SUBORDINATE OFFICERS.</i>	15
SECTION 4.03.01. <i>STUDENT MEMBER.</i>	15
SECTION 4.04. <i>REMOVAL AND RESIGNATION.</i>	16
SECTION 4.05. <i>VACANCIES.</i>	17
SECTION 4.06. <i>CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD.</i>	17
SECTION 4.07. <i>PRESIDENT.</i>	17
SECTION 4.08. <i>VICE PRESIDENTS.</i>	18
SECTION 4.09. <i>SECRETARY.</i>	18
SECTION 4.10. <i>FINANCIAL OFFICER.</i>	19
SECTION 4.11. <i>BOARD MEMBER AT LARGE.</i>	20
ARTICLE V. INDEMNIFICATION, INSURANCE AND DIRECTOR LIABILITY	21
SECTION 5.01. <i>DEFINITIONS.</i>	21
SECTION 5.02. <i>INDEMNIFICATION IN ACTIONS BY THIRD PARTIES.</i>	21

SECTION 5.03. <i>INDEMNIFICATION IN ACTIONS BY OR IN THE RIGHT OF THE CORPORATION.</i>	22
SECTION 5.04. <i>INDEMNIFICATION AGAINST EXPENSES.</i>	24
SECTION 5.05. <i>REQUIRED DETERMINATIONS.</i>	24
SECTION 5.06. <i>ADVANCE OF EXPENSES.</i>	25
SECTION 5.07. <i>OTHER INDEMNIFICATION.</i>	25
SECTION 5.08. <i>FORMS OF INDEMNIFICATION NOT PERMITTED.</i>	25
SECTION 5.09. <i>PERSONAL LIABILITY OF VOLUNTEER DIRECTORS OR EXECUTIVE OFFICERS.</i>	26
SECTION 5.10. <i>INSURANCE.</i>	27
SECTION 5.11. <i>NONAPPLICABILITY TO FIDUCIARIES OF EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS.</i>	27
SECTION 5.12. <i>CHAPTER 42 TAXES.</i>	28
ARTICLE VI. MISCELLANEOUS.	29
SECTION 6.01. <i>FISCAL YEAR.</i>	29
SECTION 6.02. <i>CORPORATE SEAL.</i>	29
SECTION 6.03. <i>CHECKS, NOTES AND CONTRACTS.</i>	29
SECTION 6.04. <i>AMENDMENT OF ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION AND BYLAWS.</i>	30
SECTION 6.05. <i>LOANS TO DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS.</i>	30
SECTION 6.06. <i>AWARDS AND GRANTS TO RELATIVES OF DIRECTORS AND/OR OFFICERS.</i>	30
SECTION 6.07. <i>Amendment of the Bylaws, April 2023</i>	30

BYLAWS
OF
THE SOCIETY FOR ANIMATION STUDIES
A California Nonprofit Public Benefit Corporation

ARTICLE I. *Offices.*

Section 1.01. *Principal Office.*

The principal office of the Corporation shall be located within or without the State of California, at such place as the board of Directors shall from time to time determine. The Board is granted full power and authority to change the principal office from one location to another. The Corporation may establish or maintain additional offices at such other places as the Board of Directors may determine.

ARTICLE II. *Membership.*

Section 2.01. *Members.*

The Corporation shall have no members within the meaning of § 5056 of the California Nonprofit Public Benefit Corporation Law as now in effect or as may hereafter be amended. Any action which otherwise would require approval by a majority of all members or approval by the members shall require approval only of the Board of Directors. All rights, which otherwise would vest in the members including, without limitation, the right to elect directors, shall vest in the Board.

ARTICLE III. *Board of Directors*

Section 3.01. *Power of Board.*

Subject to any limitations in the Articles of Incorporation or these Bylaws, the activities and affairs of the Corporation shall be conducted and all corporate powers shall be exercised by or under the direction of the Board of Directors. The Board may delegate the management of the activities of the Corporation to any person or persons, management company, or committee or committees however composed, provided that the activities and affairs of the Corporation shall be managed and all corporate powers shall be exercised under the ultimate direction of the Board.

Section 3.02. *Number of Directors.*

The number of directors of the Corporation shall be no less than three (3) nor more than nine (9), with the exact number of directors to be fixed from time to time, within such limits, by approval of the Board. The authorized number of directors of the Corporation, whether fixed or subject to a minimum and maximum number of directors, may be changed by an amendment to these Bylaws which is approved by the Board. An odd number of Board members will be maintained at all times to ensure majority/minority voting-based decision making is possible when needed.

Section 3.03. *Election and Term of Office.*

Directors shall be elected at each annual meeting of the Board of Directors. Each director, including a director elected to fill a vacancy shall hold office until the expiration of the term for which he or she was elected and until his or her successor is elected and qualified.

Section 3.04. *Resignation and Vacancies.*

Any director may resign effective upon giving written notice to the Board of Directors by email, unless the notice specifies a later time for the effectiveness of such resignation; provided, however, that no director may resign except upon notice to the Attorney General where the Corporation would then be left without a duly elected director or directors in charge of its affairs. If the resignation is effective at a future time, a successor may be elected to take office when the resignation becomes effective.

A vacancy in the Board of Directors shall be filled in the same manner as the director whose office is vacant was selected. Vacancies on the Board may be filled by a majority of the remaining directors, or if the number of directors then in office is less than a quorum, by (1) the unanimous written consent of the

directors then in office, (2) the affirmative vote of a majority of the directors then in office at a meeting held pursuant to notice or waivers of notice complying with § 5211 of the California Nonprofit Public Benefit Corporation Law, or (3) a sole remaining director. Each director so elected shall hold office until the expiration of the term of the replaced director and until his or her successor has been elected and qualified.

A vacancy in the Board shall be deemed to exist on the occurrence of the death, resignation or removal of any director, or if the authorized number of directors is increased.

The Board may declare vacant the office of a director who has been declared of unsound mind by a final order of court, or convicted of a felony, or been found by a final order or judgment of any court to have breached any duty arising under Article 3 of the California Nonprofit Public Benefit Corporation Law.

No reduction of the authorized number of directors shall have the effect of removing any director prior to the expiration of that director's term of office.

Section 3.05. Place of Meetings.

Meetings of the Board of Directors may be held at any place within

or without the State of California which has been designated in the notice of the meeting or, if not stated in the notice or there is no notice, at the principal office of the Corporation or as designated by resolution of the Board. Given the international composition of the Board of Directors, it is anticipated that the majority of meetings will take place virtually to reduce the carbon impact of international travel.

Section 3.06. *Annual Meetings.*

The Board of Directors shall hold an annual meeting for the purpose of electing the directors and officers, and all other business as may properly come before the Board. Annual meetings of the Board shall be held during the annual SAS conference, which is generally scheduled during the month of June. If such a meeting is not possible, then the annual meeting shall be held virtually and arrangements made accordingly to prevent unnecessary delays in the completion of this business.

Section 3.07. *Regular Meetings.*

Regular meetings of the Board of Directors shall be held without notice at such time and place as may be fixed by the Board.

Section 3.08. *Special Meetings.*

Special meetings of the Board of Directors for any purpose or purposes may be called at any time by a minimum of two directors.

Notice of Special Meetings will be circulated by email and arrangements, any such email need not specify the purpose of any special meeting of the Board.

Section 3.09. *Quorum and Action of the Board.*

The greater of three (3) directors or one- third of the directors authorized in Section 3.02 of these bylaws constitutes a quorum of the Board for the transaction of business, except for purposes of adjournment as provided in Section 3.12 of these Bylaws. Unless a greater number is required by law, the Articles of Incorporation or these Bylaws, every action taken or decision made by a majority of the directors present at a meeting duly held at which a quorum is present is the act of the Board; provided, however, that a meeting at which a quorum is initially present may continue to transact business notwithstanding the withdrawal of directors, if any action taken is approved by at least a majority of the required quorum for such meeting.

Section 3.10. *Participation in Meetings by Conference Telephone.*

Members of the Board of Directors may participate in a meeting through the use of conference telephone, electronic video screen communication, or other communications equipment if all of the following apply: (1) each member participating in the meeting can communicate with all of the other members concurrently, (2) each member is provided the means of participating in all matters before the Board, including the capacity to propose, or to interpose an objection, to a specific action to be

taken by the Corporation, and (3) the Corporation adopts and implements some means of verifying both that (i) a person communicating by telephone, electronic video screen, or other communications equipment is a director entitled to participate in the Board meeting, and (ii) all statements, questions, actions, or votes were made by that director and not by another person not permitted to participate as a director. Participation in a meeting pursuant to this Section 3.10 constitutes presence in person at such meeting.

Section 3.11. *Waiver of Notice.*

Notice of a meeting need not be given to any director who signed a waiver of notice or a written consent to holding the meeting or an approval of the minutes thereof, whether before or after the meeting, or who attends the meeting without protesting, prior thereto or at its commencement, the lack of notice to such director. All such waivers, consents, and approvals shall be filed with the corporate records or made a part of the minutes of the meetings.

Section 3.12. *Adjournment.*

A majority of the directors present, whether or not a quorum is present, may adjourn any meeting to another time and place. If the meeting is adjourned for more than twenty-four (24) hours,

notice of any adjournment to another time or place shall be given prior to the time of the adjourned meeting to the directors who were not present at the time of the adjournment.

Section 3.13. *Action Without Meeting.*

Any action required or permitted to be taken by the Board of Directors may be taken without a meeting, if all members of the Board shall individually or collectively consent in writing to such action; provided, however, that the preceding provision shall not include the consent of any director who has a material financial interest in a transaction to which the Corporation is a party and who is an “interested director” as defined in § 5233 of the California Nonprofit Public Benefit Corporation Law. Such written consent or consents shall be filed with the minutes of the proceedings of the Board and shall have the same force and effect as the unanimous vote of such directors.

Section 3.14. *Committees.*

The Board may, by resolution adopted by a majority of the number of directors then in office, provided that a quorum is present, create one or more committees, each consisting of two or more directors, to serve at the pleasure of the Board. Appointments to such committees shall be by a majority vote of the directors then in office. The Board may appoint one or more directors as alternate

members of any such committee, who may replace any absent member at any meeting of the committee. Any such committee to the extent provided in the resolution of the Board, shall have all the authority of the Board except with respect to:

- (a) The approval of any action for which the California Nonprofit Public Benefit Corporation Law requires approval of the Board or of a majority of the Board;
- (b) The filling of vacancies on the Board or in any committee which has the authority of the Board;
- (c) The amendment or repeal of Bylaws or the adoption of new Bylaws;
- (d) The amendment or repeal of any resolution of the Board which by its express terms is not so amendable or repealable;
- (e) The appointment of committees of the Board or the members thereof; or
- (f) The approval of any self-dealing transaction, as defined in § 5233(a) of the California Nonprofit Public Benefit Corporation Law or any successor provision thereto.

Section 3.15. Meetings and Actions of Committees.

Regular and special meetings and actions of committees of the Board of Directors shall be governed by the provisions of this Article III applicable to the meetings and actions of the Board;

provided however, that the Board may adopt rules for the conduct of the business of any committee consistent with these Bylaws, or in the absence of rules adopted by the Board, the committee may adopt such rules.

Section 3.16. *Fees and Compensation.*

The Corporation shall not pay any compensation to directors for services rendered to the Corporation as a director, except that directors may be reimbursed for expenses incurred in the performance of their duties to the Corporation, in reasonable amounts as approved by the Board.

ARTICLE IV. *Officers*

Section 4.01. *Officers.*

The officers of the corporation shall be a President/Co-Presidents, a Secretary, and a Chief Financial Officer and at the discretion of the Board, a Chairman of the Board. The Corporation also may have, at the discretion of the board, one or more Vice Presidents, one or more Assistant Secretaries, a Treasurer, one or more Assistant Chief Financial Officers, and such other officers as may be elected or appointed in accordance with the provisions of Section 4.03 of this Article IV. Any number of offices may be held by the same person except that neither the Secretary nor the Chief Financial

Officer may serve concurrently as President/Co-Presidents or Chairman of the Board.

Section 4.02. *Election.*

The officers of the Corporation (except such officers as may be elected or appointed in accordance with the provisions of Section 4.03 or Section 4.05 of this Article IV), shall be chosen annually by, and shall serve at the pleasure of the Board, and shall hold their respective offices until their resignation, removal, or other disqualification from service and until their respective successors are elected and qualify.

Section 4.03. *Subordinate Officers.*

The Board may elect, and may empower the Chairman of the Board, if any, and the President/Co-Presidents to appoint such other officers as the business of the Corporation may require, each of whom shall hold office for such period, have such authority, and perform such duties as are provided in these Bylaws or as the board from time to time may determine.

Section 4.03.01. *Student Member.*

The Student Member functions as coordinator between student members and opinion leader for that sector of the Corporation's membership. The Student Member must be enrolled as either a Graduate or PhD student, or be contracted for postdoctoral studies. Student membership requires being a

registered student at an academic institution. If a final year student, then the tenure runs for a minimum of one (1) year, if a first year student, then the tenure may run for a maximum of three (3) years. In the case of post-doctoral studies the term of membership falls within the duration of their contract. The term ends when the Student Member is no longer enrolled as a student, or contracted postdoctoral candidate.

Section 4.04. *Removal and Resignation.*

Any officer may be removed with or without cause by the Board of Directors at any time or, in the case of an officer not chosen by the Board, by any officer upon whom such power of removal may be conferred by the Board. Any such removal shall be without prejudice to the rights, if any, of the officer under any contract of employment.

Any officer may resign at any time by giving written notice to the Corporation without prejudice to the rights, if any, of the Corporation under any contract to which the officer is a party. Any

such resignation shall take effect at the date of the receipt of such notice or at any later time specified therein and, unless otherwise specified therein.

Section 4.05. *Vacancies.*

A vacancy in any office because of death, resignation, removal, disqualification, or any other cause shall be filled in the manner prescribed in these Bylaws for regular election or appointment to such office, provided that such vacancies shall be filled as they occur and not on an annual basis.

Section 4.06. *Chairman of the Board.*

The Chairman of the Board, if any, shall preside at all meetings of the Board of Directors and exercise and perform such other powers and duties as may be assigned from time to time by the Board.

Section 4.07. *President/Co-Presidents.*

Subject to such powers as may be given by the Board to the Chairman of the Board, if any, the President/Co-Presidents serve/s as the general manager/s and chief executive officer/s of the Corporation and, subject to the control of the Board of Directors, shall be responsible for the general supervision, direction, and control of the business and officers of the Corporation. In the absence of the Chairman of the

Board, or if there is none, the President/Co-Presidents shall preside at all meetings of the Board. The President/Co-Presidents has/have the general powers and duties of management usually vested in the office of president and general manager of a corporation and such other powers and duties as may be prescribed by the Board.

Section 4.08. *Vice President(s)*.

In the absence or disability of the President/Co-Presidents, the Vice President(s), if any are appointed, in order of their rank as fixed by the Board of Directors or, if not ranked, the Vice President(s) designated by the Board, shall perform all the duties of the President/Co-Presidents and, when so acting, shall have all the powers of, and be subject to all the restrictions upon, the President/Co-Presidents. The Vice President(s) shall have such other powers and perform such other duties as from time to time may be prescribed for them respectively by the Board.

Section 4.09. *Secretary*.

The Secretary shall keep or cause to be kept, at the principal office of the Corporation or such other place as the Board of Directors may order, a book of minutes of all meetings of the Board and its committees. The minutes shall include the time and place of meetings, whether regular or special, and if special, how authorized, the notice thereof given, the names of those present at

Board and committee meetings, and the proceedings thereof. The Secretary shall keep, or cause to be kept, at the principal office in the State of California the original or a copy of the Corporation's Articles and bylaws, as amended to date.

The Secretary shall give, or cause to be given, notice of all meetings of the Board and its committees required by law or by these bylaws to be given, shall keep the seal of the Corporation in safe custody, and shall have such other powers and perform such other duties as may be prescribed by the Board.

Section 4.10. *Financial Officer.*

The chief Financial Officer shall keep and maintain, or cause to be kept and maintained, adequate and correct books and accounts of the properties and business transactions of the Corporation. The books of account shall be open at all reasonable times to inspection by any director.

The Chief Financial Officer shall deposit, or cause to be deposited, all money and other valuables in the name and to the credit of the Corporation with such depositories as may be designed by the Board. The Chief Financial Officer shall disburse the funds of the Corporation as may be ordered by the Board, with checks, when feasible, signed by both the Chief Financial Officer

and the President/Co-Presidents, and shall render to the President/Co-Presidents and the directors whenever requested an account of all transactions as Chief Financial Officer and of the financial condition of the Corporation, and shall have such other powers and perform such other duties as may be prescribed by the Board.

Section 4.11. *Board Member at Large (if actively used as a Board Role).*

Specific functions of this position will be determined at the time the position is filled, either by the Board or the candidate identifying a current need of the Board. Such duties may include but are not limited to: promoting the Corporation outside of the organization; establishing connections with like-minded organizations; and developing educational outreach.

The candidate for the position of Board Member at Large should:

- a) be a current member of the organization,
- b) have a record of active engagement as a member of the organization,
- c) be an active member of the animation and/or academic community,
- d) support the vision and mission of the Corporation, and
- e) have merited, visible activity in the animation community that will be an asset to the Board.

ARTICLE V. *Indemnification, Insurance and Director Liability*

Section 5.01. *Definitions.*

For the purposes of this Article V, “agent” means any person who is or was a director, officer, employee, or other agent of the Corporation, or is or was serving at the request of the Corporation as a director, officer, employee, or agent of another foreign or domestic corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust, or other enterprise, or was a director, officer, employee, or agent of a foreign or domestic corporation which was a predecessor of the Corporation or of another enterprise at the request of such predecessor; “proceeding” means any threatened, pending, or completed action or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative, or investigative; and “expenses” includes without limitation attorneys’ fees and any expenses of establishing a right to indemnification under Section 5.04 or 5.05(b) of these Bylaws.

Section 5.02. *Indemnification in Actions by Third Parties.*

The Corporation shall have power to indemnify any person who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any proceeding (other than an action by or in the right of the corporation to procure a judgment in its favor, an action brought under § 5233 of the California Nonprofit Public Benefit Corporation Law or an action brought by the Attorney General or a

person granted relator status by the Attorney General for any breach of duty relating to assets held in charitable trust) by reason of the fact that such person is or was an agent of the Corporation, against expenses, judgment, fines, settlements and other amounts actually and reasonably incurred in connection with such proceeding if such person acted in good faith and in a manner such person reasonably believed to be in the best interests of the Corporation and, in the case of a criminal proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe the conduct of such person was unlawful. The termination of any proceeding by judgment, order, settlement, conviction, or upon a plea of nolo contendere or its equivalent shall not, of itself, create a presumption that the person did not act in good faith and in a manner which the person reasonably believed to be in the best interests of the Corporation or that the person had reasonable cause to believe that the person's conduct was unlawful.

Section 5.03. Indemnification in Actions by or in the Right of the Corporation.

The Corporation shall have power to indemnify any person who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending or completed action by or in the right of the Corporation, or brought under § 5233 of the California Nonprofit Public Benefit Corporation Law, or brought by the Attorney

General or a person granted relator status by the Attorney General for breach of duty relating to assets held in charitable trust, to procure a judgment in its favor by reason of the fact that such person is or was an agent of the Corporation, against expenses actually and reasonably incurred by such person in connection with the defense or settlement of such action if such person acted in good faith, in a manner such person believed to be in the best interests of the Corporation, and with such care, including reasonable inquiry, as an ordinarily prudent person in a like position would use under similar circumstances. No indemnification shall be made under this Section 5.03:

- (a) In respect of any claim, issue or matter as to which such person shall have been adjudged to be liable to the Corporation in the performance of such person's duty to the Corporation, unless and only to the extent that the court in which such proceeding is or was pending shall determine upon application that, in view of all the circumstances of the case, such person is fairly and reasonably entitled to indemnity for the expenses which such court shall determine;
- (b) Of amounts paid in settling or otherwise disposing of a threatened or pending action, with or without court approval;
- or
- (c) Of expenses incurred in defending a threatened or

pending action which is settled or otherwise disposed of without court approval unless it is settled with the approval of the Attorney General.

Section 5.04. *Indemnification Against Expenses.*

To the extent that an agent of the Corporation has been successful on the merits in defense of any proceedings referred to in Section 5.02 or 5.03 of these Bylaws or in defense of any claim, issue, or matter therein, the agent shall be indemnified against expenses actually and reasonably incurred by the agent in connection therewith.

Section 5.05. *Required Determinations.*

Except as provided in Section 5.04 of these Bylaws, any indemnification under this Article V shall be made by the Corporation only if authorized in the specific case, upon a determination that indemnification of the agent is proper in the circumstances because the agent has met the applicable standard of conduct set forth in Section 5.02 or 5.03 of these Bylaws, by:

- (a) A majority vote of a quorum consisting of directors who are not parties to such proceeding; or
- (b) The court in which such proceeding is or was pending upon application made by the Corporation or the agent or the attorney or other person rendering services in connection

with the defense, whether or not such application by the agent, attorney, or other person is opposed by the Corporation.

Section 5.06. *Advance of Expenses.*

Expenses incurred in defending any proceeding may be advanced by the Corporation prior to the final disposition of such proceeding upon receipt of an undertaking by or on behalf of the agent to repay such amount unless it shall be determined ultimately that the agent is entitled to be indemnified as authorized in this Article V.

Section 5.07. *Other Indemnification.*

No provision made by the Corporation to indemnify its or its subsidiary's directors or officers for the defense of any proceeding, whether contained in the Articles of Incorporation, Bylaws, a resolution of directors, an agreement or otherwise, shall be valid unless consistent with this Article V. Nothing contained in this Article V shall affect any right to indemnification to which persons other than such directors and offices may be entitled by contract or otherwise.

Section 5.08. *Forms of Indemnification Not Permitted.*

No indemnification or advance shall be made under this

Article V, except as provided in Section 5.04 or 5.05(b), in any circumstances where it appears:

- (a) That it would be inconsistent with a provision of the Articles of Incorporation, these Bylaws, or an agreement in effect at the time of the accrual of the alleged cause of action asserted in the proceeding in which the expenses were incurred or other amounts were paid, which prohibits or otherwise limits indemnification; or
- (b) That it would be inconsistent with any condition expressly imposed by a court in approving a settlement.

Section 5.09. Personal Liability of Volunteer Directors or Executive Officers.

To the fullest extent permitted by the California Nonprofit Public Benefit Corporation Law, as now in effect or as may hereafter be amended, there shall be no personal liability to a third party for monetary damages on the part of a volunteer director or volunteer executive officer of a nonprofit corporation, caused by the director's negligent act or omission in the performance of that person's duties as a director or officer, provided that the person's act or omission was (1) within the scope of the director's or executive officer's duties, performed in good faith and not reckless, wanton, intentional or grossly negligent, and (2) either the damages are covered by liability insurance or the director or

executive officer and the Board of Directors had made all reasonable efforts in good faith to obtain available liability insurance.

Section 5.10. *Insurance.*

The Corporation shall have power to purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of any agent of the Corporation against any liability asserted against or incurred by the agent in such capacity or arising out of the agent's status as such whether or not the Corporation would have the power to indemnify the agent against such liability under the provisions of this Article V, provided, however, that the Corporation shall have no power to purchase and maintain such insurance to indemnify any agent of the Corporation for a violation of § 5233 of the California Nonprofit Public Benefit Corporation Law (or any successor provision thereto).

Section 5.11. *Nonapplicability to Fiduciaries of Employee Benefit Plans.*

This Article V does not apply to any proceeding against any trustee, investment manager, or other fiduciary of an employee benefit plan in such person's capacity as such, even though such person may also be an agent of the Corporation as defined in § 5.01 of these Bylaws. The Corporation shall have power to indemnify such trustee, investment manager, or other fiduciary to

the extent permitted by subdivision (f) of § 207 of the California General Corporation Law.

Section 5.12. *Chapter 42 Taxes.*

In no case, however, shall the Corporation indemnify, reimburse, or insure any person for any taxes imposed on such individual under Chapter 42 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (“Code”). Further, if at any time the Corporation is deemed to be a private foundation with the meaning of § 509 of the Code the, during such time, no payment shall be made under this Article if such payment should constitute an act of Self-dealing or a taxable expenditure, as defined in §§ 4941(d) or 4945(d), respectively, of the Code. Moreover, the Corporation shall not indemnify, reimburse, or insure any person in any instance where such indemnification, reimbursement, or insurance is inconsistent with § 4958 of the Code or any other provision of the Code applicable to corporations described in § 501(c)(3) of the Code.

If any part of this Article V shall be found in any action, suit or proceeding to be invalid or ineffective, the validity and the effectiveness of the remaining parts shall not be affected.

ARTICLE VI. *Miscellaneous.*

Section 6.01. *Fiscal Year.*

The fiscal year of the Corporation shall be the calendar year or such other period as may be fixed by the Board of Directors.

Section 6.02. *Corporate Seal.*

The corporate seal shall be circular in form, shall have the name of the Corporation inscribed thereon and shall contain the words “Corporate Seal” and “California” and the year the Corporation was formed in the center, or shall be in such form as may be approved from time to time by the Board of Directors.

Section 6.03. *Checks, Notes and Contracts.*

The Board of Directors shall determine who shall be authorized from time to time on the Corporation’s behalf to sign checks, drafts, or other orders for payment of money; to sign acceptances, notes, or other evidences of indebtedness; to enter into contracts; or to execute and deliver other documents and instruments. Unless amended by the directors in accordance with these Bylaws, checks may be signed for the Corporation by the Chief Financial Officer or the Treasurer, if any, or the Secretary of the Corporation.

Section 6.04. *Amendment of Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws.*

The Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws of the Corporation may be adopted, amended or repealed in whole or in part by majority vote of the directors then in office.

Section 6.05. *Loans to Directors and Officers.*

The Corporation shall not make any loan of money or property to or guarantee the obligation of any director or officer, unless approved by the Attorney General; provided, however, that the Corporation may advance money to a director or officer of the Corporation or of its parent or any subsidiary for expenses reasonably anticipated to be incurred in the performance of the duties of such director or officer, provided that in the absence of such advance, such director or officer would be entitled to be reimbursed for such expenses by the Corporation, its parent, or any subsidiary.

Section 6.06. *Awards and Grants to Relatives of Directors and/or Officers.*

In the event that any relative of an officer or director applies to the Corporation for any grant, award or other monetary transfer, other than reimbursement of reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred on behalf of the Corporation, the officer or director who is a relative of such applicant shall recuse himself or herself from

voting and/or discussion on the grant, award, or other monetary transfer and the person presiding at any vote or approval process on such application shall admonish all Directors and/or officers who vote or otherwise participate in any decision upon such application, that such relative's application must be considered fairly and objectively, and that no favoritism may be shown to such applicant by reason of his or her being the relative of a member of the Board of Directors and/or an officer of the Corporation, but rather each proposal and/or situation shall be determined fairly, as if the applicant had no relative on the Board of Directors and/or serving as an officer of the Corporation.

6.07 Amendment of the Bylaws, April 2023. The SAS Bylaws remained unchanged between 2008-2023. In that time, the world underwent profound change, with increased digital communication facilitating sustained international collaboration. The notable change made to the Bylaws in 2023 was the re-configuration of the Presidency to allow for the possibility of Co-Presidency. The rationale for this change was to encourage: better succession planning, with Co-Presidents serving on a staggered timeline of service; sharing of the Presidential workload, which, given the convenience of digital correspondence compared to international

postal correspondence, increased considerably over the years 2008-2023; and greater scope to reflect the international composition of the SAS membership in the society's highest office, with the intent that the Board of Directors work to ensure that when a Co-Presidency is in effect that the occupants of the role are not from the same country.

Signatories 2023

The undersigned President of The Society for Animation Studies hereby adopts the foregoing Bylaws as the current Bylaws of the Corporation.

Signed by Chris Pallant as President.

This is to certify that I am the duly elected, qualified and acting Secretary of The Society for Animation Studies and that the foregoing Bylaws were adopted as the Bylaws of said corporation as of the date of incorporation by the Board of Directors of said corporation.

Signed by Mihaela Mihailova as Secretary.

Signatories 2013

The undersigned President of The Society for Animation Studies hereby adopts the foregoing Bylaws as the current Bylaws of the Corporation.

Signed by Paul Ward as President.

This is to certify that I am the duly elected, qualified and acting Secretary of The Society for Animation Studies and that the foregoing Bylaws were adopted as the Bylaws of said corporation as of the date of incorporation by the Board of Directors of said corporation.

Signed by Adam de Beer as Secretary.

Signatories 2008

The undersigned incorporator of The Society for Animation

Studies hereby adopts the foregoing Bylaws as the Bylaws of the Corporation.

Signed by Maureen Furniss as Incorporator.

This is to certify that I am the duly elected, qualified and acting Secretary of The Society for Animation Studies and that the foregoing Bylaws were adopted as the Bylaws of said corporation as of the date of incorporation by the Board of Directors of said corporation.

Signed by Richard Leskosky as Secretary.